# BYOUNG-D

# Breathing exercises for people with young onset dementia





Co-funded by the European Union









How to refer to this work:

Odisee University of Applied Sciences (2024). YOUNG-D. Breathing exercises for people with young onset dementia. Accessed from: <u>https://www.odisee.be/en/researchprojects/young-d</u>

## Breathing exercises for people with young onset dementia

### Contents

Lecture	3
Introduction	3
Breathing: goal and purpose	5
Relation between breathing and stress	5
Strategies to improve breathing	6
Workshop	7
Abdominal breathing exercise (3min)	7
Breathing by means of a digital visual breathing tool	8
Breathing by means of an analogue visual breathing tool	9
Pursed Lip Breathing	11
Square Breathing (Box Breathing)	12
Alternating Nostril Breathing (Nadi Shodhana)	13
Guided Imagery Breathing	14
References	15

#### Breathing exercises for people with young onset dementia

#### Lecture

#### Introduction

Deep breathing exercises are a simple and time-efficient technique that does not require specialized equipment, making it accessible in a wide variety of settings (Tavoian et al., 2023). Additionally, literature has described the positive effects of deep and slow breathing on anxiety and stress levels:

- Diaphragmatic breathing (DB) is a slow and deep breathing technique that affects the brain and various bodily systems (the cardiovascular, respiratory and gastrointestinal system) by influencing the autonomic nervous functions (Hamasaki, 2021). DB exercises have been shown to reduce stress, treat eating disorders, chronic functional constipation, hypertension, migraine and anxiety and improve quality of life (Hamasaki, 2021).
- Another study by Dass et al. (2022) also describes the positive effects of synchronized and controlled breathing in asthma patients. This type of breathing can reduce stress, strain and anxiety and change behavior, as well as improve the immune system and the strength/endurance of the respiratory muscles (Dass et al, 2022).
- Naik et al. (2018) conducted a study which demonstrated that a 12-week intervention of slow breathing exercise training significantly reduced perceived stress levels in healthy males.
- Tavoian et al. (2023) also reported positive effects of deep breathing at work on employee stress levels.

Although breath work and deep breathing have been reported to reduce anxiety and stress and improve sleep outcomes, there is currently only little research on the effect of deep breathing in dementia. James et al. (2021) conducted a small powered study on the effects of breathing on informal caregivers of people with dementia. Additionally, Min et al. (2023) reported on the preventive value of breathwork in the etiology of Alzheimer's' disease. Slow-paced breathing, via heart rate variability (HRV) biofeedback, stimulates vagus-nerve pathways that counter noradrenergic mechanisms in stress and arousal pathways. This can influence the production and clearance of Alzheimer's disease (AD)-related proteins (Min et al., 2023). While breathing exercises have been proven effective in reducing anxiety and stress, as well as in improving sleep, further examination is needed to determine the

effectiveness of breathwork as an intervention for people with dementia. Given the limited research on breath work in dementia, it is possible to extrapolate the importance and potential health benefits of breath exercises from previous studies conducted on the general population (Dass et al., 2022; Hamasaki, 2021; Naik et al., 2018; Tavoian et al., 2023).

Breathing or breath work, also known as deep breathing or focus breathing, can increase awareness of breathing and help control or slow down the pace of breathing. This can stimulate the vagal nerve (parasympathetic nervous system) and is known to reduce anxiety and stress (Dass et al., 2022; Hamasaki, 2021; Naik et al., 2018; Tavoian et al., 2023).

Our breathing can often indicate our feelings or stress levels. When we are tense or stressed, our breathing may feel shallow or superficial. By focusing on our breathing and by becoming more aware of our breathing patterns, we can slow down our breathing pace, which can help us breathe more deeply and profoundly. Slow and deep breathing can help to slow down the body and the brain and reduces bodily tension, anxiety and stress.

#### Breathing: goal and purpose

We breathe so our bodies can get the oxygen they need for energy. When we breathe in, air goes into our lungs. Oxygen from the air gets into our blood through tiny blood vessels called capillaries around little air sacs in the lungs called alveoli. The blood carries oxygen to all our cells.

Integrating regular breathing exercises into one's routine can contribute to:

- stress reduction
- improved respiratory function
- enhanced cognitive performance, and an overall sense of balance and vitality

#### **Relation between breathing and stress**

Stress can impact breathing patterns and breathing can influence experienced stress levels. Breathing exercises aim to increase awareness and control over the rate of breathing. The breathing exercises stimulate the vagus nerve, which is part of the parasympathetic nervous system, leading to reduced anxiety and stress.

Breathing exercises have been a cornerstone of various wellbeing practices and therapeutic interventions. The effectiveness of these exercises lies in their significant impact on both physical and mental wellbeing. Breathing exercises can be beneficial for individuals with dementia, including people with Young Onset Dementia, as these exercises can help promote relaxation, reduce stress, and improve overall well-being.

#### Strategies to improve breathing

It is important to address poor breathing considering untreated respiratory issues can have significant impact on overall health and quality of life.

- Deep Breathing Exercises: Practicing deep breathing exercises, such as diaphragmatic breathing (also known as belly breathing), can help improve lung capacity and oxygen exchange. These exercises can train the diaphragm to work more efficiently, allowing for more efficient breathing
- Increase physical activity: Engaging in regular physical activity can strengthen respiratory muscles and improve overall lung function. Aerobic exercises like walking, swimming or cycling can be particularly beneficial
- Posture Correction: Poor posture can restrict breathing by compressing the lungs and diaphragm. Improving posture through exercises and ergonomic adjustments can help optimize breathing mechanics
- Stress Reduction Techniques: Stress and anxiety can lead to shallow breathing patterns. Techniques such as mindfulness, progressive muscle relaxation, or yoga can help reduce stress and promote deeper, more relaxed breathing
- **Quit Smoking**: Smoking can damage the lungs and impair respiratory function. Quitting smoking can significantly improve lung health and breathing capacity over time
- **Stay well hydrated:** Staying well-hydrated helps keep the airways moist and facilitates efficient oxygen exchange in the lungs. Aim to drink plenty of water throughout the day
- **Dietary considerations**: Consuming a balanced diet rich in fruits, vegetables, lean proteins, and whole grains can support overall health, including respiratory function. Certain foods, such as spicy foods or those high in antioxidants, may also have respiratory benefits.
- **Medical treatment**: If poor breathing is due to an underlying medical condition, such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), or sleep apnea, it's essential to consult a healthcare professional for proper diagnosis and treatment. Treatment may include medications, inhalers, oxygen therapy, or other interventions tailored to the specific condition

#### Workshop

#### Abdominal breathing exercise (3min)



- **Description**: abdominal breathing: sitting on a chair placing hands on the chest and abdomen
- **Goals:** participants are offered different breathing techniques and exercises
- **Method:** individual exercise (in group) for 3-5 minutes. Sit or lie down comfortably in a quiet environment. Place one hand on your abdomen and the other hand on your chest. Tell them to breathe in and out. Let them focus on their breathing.

, Inhale slowly and deeply through your nose, allowing your abdomen to rise as you fill your lungs with air. Exhale slowly through your mouth, emptying your lungs completely and allowing your abdomen to fall. Repeat for several breaths, focusing on the sensation of your breath filling your body". Give all participants the chance to practice and reflect on/share their experiences

• **Tools:** quiet environment, yoga mat or chair

#### Breathing by means of a digital visual breathing tool



- **Description:** introduction of a visual breathing tool on internet or an app on an own device
- Goals: participants are informed on breathing and the effects of awareness breathing.
- **Method:** individual exercise (in group) for 3-5 minutes. Play the exercise on a large screen. Give all participants the chance to practice and reflect on/share their experiences
- Tools/visual breathing tools:
  - <u>https://www.grc.com/breathe.htm (Follow the ball on the line. Adjust the levels correctly.)</u>
  - o <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5DqTuWve9t8">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5DqTuWve9t8</a>
  - o <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bF\_1ZiFta-E">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bF\_1ZiFta-E</a>
  - o <a href="https://words.jamoe.org/46-breathing/">https://words.jamoe.org/46-breathing/</a>

#### Breathing by means of an analogue visual breathing tool



- **Description:** introduction of a visual breathing exercise
- **Goals:** participants are informed on breathing and the effects of awareness breathing. Participants are offered different breathing exercises (Breathing with hand, figure or curves)
- Method: individual exercise (in group) for 3-5 minutes. Participants are provided hand-outs on paper. Participants have to follow the hand/figure/the curves/waves with their finger, and corresponding to their breathing. Give all participants the chance to practice and reflect on/share their experiences.
  - Figure of the hand: follow the curves of the fingers. Breathing in goes along with upward movement alongside a finger, breathing out goes along with moving downwards a finger
  - Figure of the flower: follow the edges of the petals. Breathing in goes along with upward movement alongside a petal of the flower, breathing out goes along with moving downwards a petal of the flower

 Curves/Waves: follow the curves of the wave/curve. Breathing in goes along with upward movement alongside a wave/curve, breathing out goes along with moving downwards a wave/curve

#### • Tools:

Figures hand/figure/curves (see picture above)

Hand/flower: inhale and exhale by following the arrows

Curves: Inhale when the curve is going up, exhale when the wave is going down

#### Pursed Lip Breathing



- Sit comfortably with your back straight
- Inhale slowly through your nose for a count of four
- Purse your lips as if you were going to whistle
- Exhale slowly and gently through your pursed lips for a count of six
- Repeat for several breaths, focusing on the controlled exhalation

#### Square Breathing (Box Breathing)



- Sit comfortably and close your eyes if you prefer to do so
- Inhale deeply through your nose for a count of four
- Hold your breath for a count of four
- Exhale slowly and completely through your mouth for a count of four
- Hold your breath for a count of four before beginning the next cycle
- Repeat the cycle for several rounds, focusing on the rhythmic pattern

#### Alternating Nostril Breathing (Nadi Shodhana)



- Sit comfortably with your back straight and eyes closed
- Use your right thumb to close your right nostril and inhale slowly through your left nostril
- Close your left nostril with your ring finger, and exhale slowly through your right nostril
- Inhale through your right nostril
- Close your right nostril and exhale through your left nostril
- Continue alternating nostrils for several breaths, focusing on the smooth transition between inhaling and exhaling

#### **Guided Imagery Breathing**



- Sit or lie down comfortably in a quiet space
- Close your eyes and imagine a peaceful and relaxing scene, such as a serene beach or a quiet forest
- As you inhale deeply, visualize yourself absorbing the calmness and tranquility of your chosen scene
- As you exhale slowly, release any tension or stress, allowing it to dissipate into the environment
- Continue breathing deeply and visualizing the calming scene for several minutes

#### References

- Alzheimer Europe. (n.d.). Dementia in Europe Yearbook 2019. <u>https://www.alzheimer-</u> europe.org/sites/default/files/alzheimer\_europe\_dementia\_in\_europe\_yearbook\_2019.pdf
- Alzheimer Liga Vlaanderen vzw. (2024). *Jongdementie*. <u>https://www.alzheimerliga.be/nl/over-</u> dementie/dementie/jongdementie
- Alzheimer Nederland. (n.d.). Dementie op jonge leeftijd. <u>https://www.alzheimer-</u> nederland.nl/dementie/jongdementie#:~:text=In%20Nederland%20hebben%20naar%20schatting,a an%20depressie%2C%20overspannenheid%20of%20relatieproblemen
- Berk, L., Warmenhoven, F., Van Os, J., & Van Boxtel, M. P. (2018). Mindfulness training for people with dementia and their caregivers: rationale, current research, and future directions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(982), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00982</u>
- Carter, J. E., Oyebode, J. R., & Koopmans, R. T. C. M. (2017). Young-onset dementia and the need for specialist care: a national and international perspective. *Aging & Mental Health, 22*(4), 468–473. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2016.1257563
- Cerejeira, J., Lagarto, L., & Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B. (2012). Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *Frontiers in Neurology, 3*(73). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2012.00073</u>
- Chung, K. F., Lee, C. T., Yeung, W. F., Chan, M. S., Chung, E. W. Y., & Lin, W. L. (2017). Sleep hygiene education as a treatment of insomnia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Family Practice*, 35(4), 365–375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmx122</u>
- Cipriani, G., Lucetti, C., Danti, S., & Nuti, A. (2014). Sleep disturbances and dementia. *Psychogeriatrics*, *15*(1), 65–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/psyg.12069</u>
- Cloak, N., & Khalili, Y. A. (2022, July 21). *Behavioral and psychological symptoms in dementia*.
   StatPearls NCBI Bookshelf. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551552/</u>
- Danish Dementia Research Centre. (2023, February 27). Age and gender distribution in dementia.
   <a href="https://videnscenterfordemens.dk/en/age-and-gender-distribution-dementia">https://videnscenterfordemens.dk/en/age-and-gender-distribution-dementia</a>
- Das, R. R., Sankar, J., & Kabra, S. K. (2021). Role of breathing exercises in Asthma—Yoga and Pranayama. *Indian Journal of Pediatrics, 89*(2), 174–180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-021-03998-</u>
- DEEP. (2019). Dementia Enquirers Research Pack: Carrying out your research project. Simple guidance and ideas for DEEP groups. <u>https://www.dementiavoices.org.uk/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/06/Dementia-Enquirers-Research-Pack.pdf

- Deutsche Alzheimer Gesellshaft e.V. (n.d.). Demenz im jüngeren Lebensalter: <a href="https://www.deutsche-alzheimer.de/demenz-wissen/demenz-im-juengeren-lebensalter#:~:text=Auch%20wenn%20die%20Zahl%20der,zwischen%2020.000%20und%2024.00">https://www.deutsche-alzheimer.de/demenz-wissen/demenz-im-juengeren-lebensalter#:~:text=Auch%20wenn%20die%20Zahl%20der,zwischen%2020.000%20und%2024.00</a>

   0%20Menschen
- Deutsches Zentrum f
  ür Neurodegenerative Erkrankungen (2023). Faktenzentrale: Demenz. https://www.dzne.de/aktuelles/hintergrund/faktenzentrale/
- Draper, B., & Withall, A. (2016). Young onset dementia. *Internal Medicine Journal, 46*(7), 779–786.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/imj.13099">https://doi.org/10.1111/imj.13099</a>
- Expertisecentrum Dementie Vlaanderen. (n.d.). Prevalentie. <u>https://www.dementie.be/home/wat-is-</u>

dementie/prevalentie/#:~:text=Eerder%20publiceerden%20we%20daar%20de,personen%20met% 20jongdementie%20zullen%20zijn

- Fadil, H., Borazanci, A., Haddou, E. a. B., Yahyaoui, M., Korniychuk, E., Jaffe, S. L., & Minagar, A. (2009). Chapter 13 Early onset Dementia. In *International review of neurobiology* (pp. 245–262). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0074-7742(09)00413-9
- Geiger-Brown, J., Rogers, V., Liu, W., Ludeman, E., Downton, K., & Diaz-Abad, M. (2015).
   Cognitive behavioral therapy in persons with comorbid insomnia: A meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews, 23*, 54–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.11.007</u>
- Giulietti, M. V., Spatuzzi, R., Fabbietti, P., & Vespa, A. (2023). Effects of Mindfulness-Based Interventions (MBIs) in Patients with Early-Stage Alzheimer's Disease: A Pilot Study. Brain Sciences, 13(3), 484. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci13030484</u>
- Goyal, M., Singh, S., Sibinga, E., Gould, N. F., Rowland-Seymour, A., Sharma, R., Berger, Z.,
   Sleicher, D., Maron, D. D., Shihab, H. M., Ranasinghe, P. D., Linn, S. T., Saha, S., Bass, E. B., &
   Haythornthwaite, J. A. (2014). Meditation programs for psychological stress and well-being. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(3), 357-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.13018</u>
- Green, A. A., & Kinchen, E. (2021). The effects of mindfulness meditation on stress and burnout in nurses. Journal of Holistic Nursing, 39(4), 356–368.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/08980101211015818</u>
- Hamasaki, H. (2020). Effects of Diaphragmatic Breathing on Health: A Narrative review.
   Medicines, 7(10), 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/medicines7100065</u>
- Hendriks, S., Peetoom, K., Bakker, C., Koopmans, R. T., Van Der Flier, W., Papma, J. M., Verhey,
   F. R., De Vugt, M., & Köhler, S. (2022). Global incidence of young-onset dementia: A systematic

review and meta-analysis. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 19(3), 831–843. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12695

- Hendriks, S., Peetoom, K., Bakker, C., Van Der Flier, W. M., Papma, J. M., Koopmans, R. T., Verhey, F. R., De Vugt, M., Köhler, S., Withall, A., Parlevliet, J. L., Uysal-Bozkir, Ö., Gibson, R. C., Neita, S. M., Nielsen, T. R., Salem, L. C., Nyberg, J., Lopes, M. A., Domínguez, J., . . . Ruano, L. (2021). Global prevalence of Young-Onset dementia. *JAMA Neurology, 78*(9), 1080-1090. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.2161
- James, T., James, D., & Larkey, L. (2021). Heart-focused breathing and perceptions of burden in Alzheimer's caregivers: An online randomized controlled pilot study. Geriatric Nursing, 42(2), 397–404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2021.02.006</u>
- Janssen, M., Heerkens, Y., Kuijer, W., Van Der Heijden, B., & Engels, J. (2018). Effects of Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction on employees' mental health: A systematic review. *PloS One, 13*(1), e0191332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191332</u>
- Jerath, R., Beveridge, C., & Barnes, V. A. (2019). Self-Regulation of breathing as an adjunctive treatment of insomnia. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9(780), 1-7.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00780">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00780</a>
- Jin, J. W., Nowakowski, S., Taylor, A. E., Medina, L. D., & Kunik, M. E. (2021). Cognitive Behavioral therapy for mood and insomnia in persons with dementia. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders, 35*(4), 366–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/wad.00000000000454</u>
- Koffel, E., Koffel, J., & Gehrman, P. (2015). A meta-analysis of group cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia. *Sleep Medicine Reviews, 19*, 6–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.05.001</u>
- Kraus, C. A., Seignourel, P. J., Balasubramanyam, V., Snow, A. L., Wilson, N., Kunik, M. E., Schulz, P. E., & Stanley, M. A. (2008). Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment for anxiety in patients with dementia: two case studies. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice, 14*(3), 186–192.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pra.0000320120.68928.e5">https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pra.0000320120.68928.e5</a>
- Living with dementia toolkit. (2024, January 10). What is mindfulness?
   <a href="https://livingwithdementiatoolkit.org.uk/stay-active/relaxing-through-mindfulness/#:~:text=Many%20mindfulness%20meditations%20involve%20focusing,way%20of%20">https://livingwithdementiatoolkit.org.uk/stay-active/relaxing-through-mindfulness/#:~:text=Many%20mindfulness%20meditations%20involve%20focusing,way%20of%20</a>
   <a href="https://relaxing%20and%20reflecting">relaxing%20and%20reflecting</a>.
- Mendez, M. F. (2017). Early-Onset Alzheimer disease. Neurologic Clinics, 35(2), 263–281.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncl.2017.01.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncl.2017.01.005</a>

- Min, J., Rouanet, J., Martini, A. C., Nashiro, K., Yoo, H. J., Porat, S., Cho, C., Wan, J., Cole, S. W., Head, E., Nation, D. A., Thayer, J. F., & Mather, M. (2023). Modulating heart rate oscillation affects plasma amyloid beta and tau levels in younger and older adults. *Scientific Reports, 13*(3967). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-30167-0
- Naik, G. S., Gaur, G. S., & Pal, G. K. (2018). Effect of modified slow breathing exercise on perceived stress and basal cardiovascular parameters. *International Journal of Yoga, 11*(1), 53–58.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/ijoy.ijoy\_41\_16</u>
- National Health Service. NHS. (2022, September 14). *Mindfulness*. <u>https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/self-help/tips-and-support/mindfulness/</u>
- Ó'Caoimh, R., Mannion, H., Sezgin, D., O'Donovan, M., Liew, A., & Molloy, D. W. (2019). Non-pharmacological treatments for sleep disturbance in mild cognitive impairment and dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Maturitas, 127*, 82–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2019.06.007
- Pawlowski, M., Johnen, A., & Duning, T. (2020). Früh beginnende Demenzen. Der Nervenarzt, 91(10), 936–945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00115-020-00967-0</u>
- Richardson, A., Pedley, G., Pelone, F., Akhtar, F., Chang, J., Muleya, W., & Greenwood, N. (2016).
   Psychosocial interventions for people with young onset dementia and their carers: a systematic review. *International Psychogeriatrics, 28*(9), 1441–1454.
   https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610216000132
- Robinson, A., De Boos, D., & Moghaddam, N. (2023). Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) for people with dementia experiencing psychological distress: A hermeneutic single-case efficacy design (HSCED) series. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, 23*(4), 1108–1122. https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12646
- Roman De Mettelinge, T., Calders, P., & Cambier, D. (2021). The Effects of Aerobic Exercise in Patients with Early-Onset Dementia: A Scoping Review. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 50*(1), 9–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000516231</u>
- Salari, N., Khazaie, H., Hosseinian-Far, A., Khaledi-Paveh, B., Ghasemi, H., Mohammadi, M., & Shohaimi, S. (2020). The effect of acceptance and commitment therapy on insomnia and sleep quality: A systematic review. *BMC Neurology, 20*(300), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-020-01883-1</u>

- Stella, F., Radanovic, M., Balthazar, M. L. F., Canineu, P. R., De Souza, L. C., & Forlenza, O. V. (2014). Neuropsychiatric symptoms in the prodromal stages of dementia. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 27(3), 230–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/yco.0000000000000050</u>
- Tavoian, D., & Craighead, D. H. (2023). Deep breathing exercise at work: Potential applications and impact. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 14, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2023.1040091</u>
- Van Vliet, D., Persoon, A., Bakker, C., Koopmans, R. T., De Vugt, M. E., Bielderman, A., & Gerritsen, D. L. (2017). Feeling useful and engaged in daily life: exploring the experiences of people with young-onset dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics, 29*(11), 1889–1898. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610217001314
- Vandekerckhove, M., & Wang, Y. (2018). Emotion, emotion regulation and sleep: An intimate relationship. *AIMS Neuroscience*, 5(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/neuroscience.2018.1.1</u>
- Vanderlinden, J., & Musch, L. (2019). Angst, stress en slaapproblemen bij jongdementie. Odisee
   University for Applied Sciences. <u>https://www.odisee.be/onderzoeksprojecten/jong-d-stress-angst-en-slaapproblemen-bij-jongdementie</u>
- Vanderlinden, J., & Musch, L. (2024). YOUNG-D. Project outline. Odisee University for Applied Sciences. <u>https://www.odisee.be/node/50151</u>
- Vanderlinden, J. (2024). A behavioural program for people with young onset dementia in order to cope with anxiety, stress and sleep problems. Trainers' Manual. Odisee University for Applied Sciences. <u>https://www.odisee.be/node/50151</u>